
  

 

CITY OF LYNDEN  

FINANCE DEPARTMENT  
Anthony Burrows, Finance Director  

(360) 354-2829  

  

Finance Committee Meeting Agenda  
City Hall - 300 Fourth Street 

3:00 PM August 21, 2023 

Roll Call 

1. Roll Call 

Review Items 

2. Approval of the July 17, 2023 Minutes 

3. Approval of Payroll - July 2023 

4. Review of the July 2023 Overtime 

5. Review of the Sales Tax - YTD 2023 

Council Items 

6. Approval of Payroll and Claims 

7. Ord-23-1672 Fire Station LTGO Bond 2023 

Informational 

8. Review of the Monthly Finance Reports 

Items Added 

9. None 

Next Meeting: September 18, 2023 

1



 

                          Finance Committee Minutes                       1 | P a g e  
 

 
  
  

Present:                                                Councilmembers:    
  Mayor Scott Korthuis                Kyle Strengholt (Chair)   
City Administrator John Williams      Nick Laninga 
 Finance Director Anthony Burrows                                  Gerald Kuiken                 
Accounting Manager Christy Fowler            
    
   
1. The Finance Committee reviewed and approved the June 2023 minutes. 
   

   
2. The Committee reviewed and approved the Payroll for the month of June 2023. 
    

  
3. The June 2023 Overtime numbers were reviewed.  

 
      The committee reviewed the payroll overtime impacts.  The Police Department had a total 
      of 256 hours, which is down slightly from last month’s 282 hours. Shift coverage accounted 
      for the majority of the overtime. For the Fire Department, there was a total of 264 hours of  
      overtime, which was an increase over last month’s 217 hours. Shift coverage accounted 
      for the bulk of the overtime.   
    
 
4. Sales Tax - YTD Review and Source Breakdown. 
  

Sales Tax revenues year to date show budget to actuals indicated that sales tax receipts 
were 17.0% or $268,050 over the projected budget. When year to date 2023 is compared 
with year-to-date 2022 collections, sales tax revenue reflects a 7.3% overall increase of 
$125,804. 

 
    

 
 
 
 

 

  

FINANCE   DEPARTMENT   
360 -354-2829   

CITY OF LYNDEN 
  

FINANCE COMMITTEE MINUTES  
3:00   PM July 17, 2023 

 City Hall – 300 4th Street 

2



 

                          Finance Committee Minutes                       2 | P a g e  
 

 
 
 
5.  Council Packet items presented:  

  
A. Consent: Approval of Payroll and Claims. Approved for review by the full Council. 

 
B. Consent: Ord-23-1670 Line of Credit Renewal. This is the one-year revolving line of 

credit in the amount of $3M that is held in two banknotes with Banner Bank. The 
ordinance was reviewed in committee and approved for review by the full Council. 

 
            
 

 
6.   Finance Department Informational or Added Items 
  

A. The Monthly Financial Reports were reviewed in committee. No further action. They will be 
disseminated to the full Council and Leadership Staff on Tuesday.   
 

B. Interfund Loan financing options regarding the new Fire Truck were discussed. Approval 
was again affirmed to use $600,000 of the Public Safety Fund (F357) money combined with 
a $2.2M commercial loan to re-pay the $2.8M interfund loan from the Water Fund.  
 

C. The Salary Ordinance for elected officials was again discussed. It was approved for review 
by the full Council at one of the August meetings. No further action. 
 
 
 

 
 
 
Meeting was adjourned at 3:50 pm. The next Finance Committee meeting is on  
August 21, 2023. 
        

3



4



5



1 of 5

FINANCE DEPARTMENT
(360) 354 - 2829

Start Date 7/1/2023 Jul-23
End Date 7/31/2023

Department Overtime Pay
$

Doubletime Pay
$

OT- LFD Training
$

OT - Out of Class
$

Holiday Wrkd 
1.5x

$

Holiday Wrkd 2x
$

Retro- OT 1.5
$

Retro- OT 2.0
$

OPSG/DNR
$ Employee Total Amount

Fire 23,109.69$           7,125.95$             30,235.64$  

Planning

Police 18,992.98             243.87 6,422.36 700.53 26,359.74 

PW Administration

PW Operations 1,814.91 615.04 2,429.95 

PW Systems 1,297.35 1,297.35 

PW Roadways

Finance

Information Technology 
Service

Parks

Total 45,214.93$           243.87$  7,125.95$             7,037.40$             700.53$  60,322.68$  

Department Overtime Pay
Hours

Doubletime Pay
Hours

OT- LFD Training
Hours

OT - Out of Class
Hours

Holiday Wrkd 
1.5x

Hours

Holiday Wrkd 2x
Hours

Retro- OT 1.5
Hours

Retro- OT 2.0
Hours

OPSG/DNR
Hours Employee Hours Total

Fire 440.25 123.50 563.75 

Planning

Police 260.75 3.00 65.75 9.50 339.00 

PW Administration

PW Operations 28.00 8.00 36.00 

PW Systems 22.50 22.50 

PW Roadways

Finance

Information Technology 
Service

Parks

Total 751.50 3.00 123.50 73.75 9.50 961.25 

CITY OF LYNDEN

6



2 of 5

FINANCE DEPARTMENT
(360) 354 - 2829

Start Date 1/1/2023 YTD
End Date 7/31/2023 2023

Department Overtime Pay
$

Doubletime Pay
$

OT- LFD Training
$

OT - Out of Class
$

Holiday Wrkd 
1.5x

$

Holiday Wrkd 2x
$

Retro- OT 1.5
$

Retro- OT 2.0
$

OPSG/DNR
$ Employee Total Amount

Fire 108,655.82$         12,939.23$           121,595.05$  

Planning 319.53 319.53 

Police 91,050.14             448.63 10,539.56             19,034.42             700.53 121,773.28 

PW Administration 45.92 45.92 

PW Operations 3,409.51 475.12 1,884.32 5,768.95 

PW Systems 8,168.38 77.48 8,245.86 

PW Roadways

Finance 209.48 209.48 

Information Technology 
Service 1,137.65 1,137.65 

Parks 781.55 781.55 

Total 213,777.98$         448.63$  13,016.71$           11,014.68$           20,918.74$           700.53$  259,877.27$  

Department Overtime Pay
Hours

Doubletime Pay
Hours

OT- LFD Training
Hours

OT - Out of Class
Hours

Holiday Wrkd 
1.5x

Hours

Holiday Wrkd 2x
Hours

Retro- OT 1.5
Hours

Retro- OT 2.0
Hours

OPSG/DNR
Hours Employee Hours Total

Fire 2,062.95 224.25 2,287.20 

Planning 5.50 5.50 

Police 1,250.65 6.00 142.00 191.75 9.50 1,599.90 

PW Administration 1.00 1.00 

PW Operations 53.25 8.00 24.00 85.25 

PW Systems 150.75 1.25 152.00 

PW Roadways

Finance 4.50 4.50 

Information Technology 
Service 14.50 14.50 

Parks 19.00 19.00 

Total 3,562.10               6.00 225.50 150.00 215.75 9.50 4,168.85 

CITY OF LYNDEN

7



3 of 5

FINANCE DEPARTMENT
(360) 354 - 2829

Reason Overtime Hours % Reason Overtime Hours %
Shift Coverage 223 65.78% Shift Coverage 284 50.42%
Other 104 30.68% Other 151 26.70%
Training 12 3.54% Kelly Day 96 17.03%

Grand Total 339 100.00% Meeting 29 5.14%
Training 4 0.71%

Grand Total 564 100.00%

CITY OF LYNDEN

Police Department Overtime

Shift Coverage

Other

Training

Fire Department Overtime

Shift Coverage

Other

Kelly Day

Meeting

Training

8



4 of 5

FINANCE DEPARTMENT
(360) 354 - 2829

YearCheck TRUE

After Period FALSE

Sum of Hours Column Labels
Row Labels 2021 2022 2023 Grand Total

Jan 534 1,253 408 2,196

Feb 474 691 585 1,750
Mar 509 512 674 1,695
Apr 615 377 450 1,442
May 643 514 517 1,673
Jun 485 661 573 1,720
Jul 729 1,017 961 2,707
Aug 898 560 1,458
Sep 1,045 773 1,817
Oct 867 587 1,454

CITY OF LYNDEN

534
474 509

615 643

485

729

898

1,045

867

1,206
1,123

1,253

691

512

377

514

661

1,017

560

773

587

996

1,688

408
585

674

450 517 573

961

J AN F E B M AR AP R M AY J U N J U L AU G S E P O C T N O V D E C

OVERTIME HOURS - PRIOR YEAR COMPARISON
2021 2022 2023

9



YearCheck TRUE
After Period FALSE
Department2 Police

Sum of Hours Column Labels
Row Labels 2021 2022 2023 Grand Total
Jan 173.5 495.5 177.5 846.5
Feb 153 328 154.5 635.5
Mar 273.5 213 223.75 710.25
Apr 290 173 167 630
May 332.5 255 282.15 869.65
Jun 210 380 256 846
Jul 276 337.25 339 952.25
Aug 199.5 202 401.5
Sep 380.5 346.75 727.25
Oct 401 256.75 657.75
Nov 559 552.75 1111.75
Dec 532.5 820.5 1353
Grand Total 3781 4360.5 1599.9 9741.4

174
153

274 290 333

210

276
200

381
401

559

533

496
328 213

173

255

380
337

202

347

257

553

821

177.5

154.5

223.75

167

282
256

339

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

700

800

900

Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec

 Overtime Hours - Police

2021
2022
2023

232
174

167

282
250 258

421

642
594

378

469

359

493

297

251

188 237 248

630

325
376

275

372

624

180

376
426

261

217

264

564

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

700

Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec

 Overtime Hours - Fire

2021
2022
2023

5 of 5
10



MONTH: 2023 2022 2021 2020 2019 2018

JANUARY 319,797 268,576 227,553 204,860 210,631 205,464
FEBRUARY 329,282 309,300 291,564 269,241 227,810 256,546
MARCH 271,867 253,781 232,882 192,915 190,702 173,007
APRIL 278,022 252,498 215,073 150,524 187,590 171,923
MAY 334,057 317,171 277,240 192,446 234,783 221,093
JUNE 307,299 313,194 282,943 216,846 240,742 195,839
JULY 337,737 326,511 292,786 264,727 242,413 235,017
AUGUST 341,517 321,888 273,156 257,189 264,632
SEPTEMBER 323,226 297,552 263,456 239,020 232,697
OCTOBER 351,271 307,999 265,363 240,514 254,484
NOVEMBER 334,162 314,316 273,702 239,868 240,973
DECEMBER 338,482 272,605 259,576 223,604 225,324
Mitigation 41,277

TOTALS 2,178,061 3,729,689 3,334,401 2,826,812 2,734,866 2,718,275
% OF CHANGE 11.9% 18.0% 3.4% 0.6% 6.7%

YTD 2023 2,178,061 Current Mo. Actuals 337,737
YTD 2022 2,041,031 Current Mo. Budget 310,961
YOY Variance 137,030 Variance 26,776

Variance % 6.7% Variance % 8.6%

Actual YTD 2023 2,178,061
Budget YTD 2023 1,883,235
Variance 294,826

Variance % 15.7%

TOTAL REGULAR SALES TAX RECEIVED BY MONTH/YEAR

11



 

 

   EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

 

 

Meeting Date: August 21, 2023 
Name of Agenda Item: Approval of Payroll and Claims 
Section of Agenda: Consent 
Department: Finance 
Council Committee Review: Legal Review: 

☐ Community Development          ☐ Public Safety ☐ Yes - Reviewed 

☒ Finance ☐ Public Works ☐ No - Not Reviewed 

☐ Parks    ☐ Other: _____________ ☒ Review Not Required 
Attachments: 

None 
 
Summary Statement: 

Approval of Payroll and Claims 

Recommended Action: 

Approval of Payroll and Claims 

 

CITY OF LYNDEN 

12



 

 

   EXECUTIVE SUMMARY - FINANCE 

 

 

Meeting Date: August 21, 2023 
Name of Agenda Item: Ord-23-1672 Fire Station LTGO Bond 2023 
Section of Agenda: New Business 
Department: Finance 
Council Committee Review: Legal Review: 

☐ Community Development          ☐ Public Safety ☒ Yes - Reviewed 

☒ Finance ☐ Public Works ☐ No - Not Reviewed 

☐ Parks    ☐ Other: _____________ ☐ Review Not Required 
Attachments: 

Ord-23-1672 Fire Station LTGO Bond 2023 

Summary Statement: 

Resolution No. 1032 was approved by Council on February 16, 2021. It provided for the establishment of an 
inter-fund loan from the Water Fund (F401) as interim financing for the Fire Station remodel project. The 
terms of Resolution No. 1032 stated that the City, within three years, would need to establish a commercial 
loan as permanent funding and re-pay the inter-fund loan. 
 
Ordinance No. 23-1672 establishes a longer-term Limited Tax General Obligation Bond (LTGO) through 
Peoples Bank here in Lynden as the long term funding source required by Resolution No. 1032. 
The amount of the Bond is for $2,200,000 for a term of 15 years at a fixed rate of 5.18%. 
The City's Bond Counsel K&L Gates and Finance Director have reviewed the terms of the Bond prior to its 
review by the Finance Committee on August 21, 2023. 
 
The Finance Committee agreed to the approval of the Bond in their August 21, 2023 meeting and has 
forwarded the Ordinance to the full Council.  
 
Recommended Action: 

That the Council approve Ord-23-1672 as presented and authorize the Mayor's signature. 

 

CITY OF LYNDEN 

13



506922001.2  

 
 

 

 

 

 

CITY OF LYNDEN, WASHINGTON 
 
 

LIMITED TAX GENERAL OBLIGATION BOND, 2023 
 
 

______________________________________ 
 
 

ORDINANCE NO. 23-1672 
 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF LYNDEN, WASHINGTON, 
PROVIDING FOR THE ISSUANCE AND SALE OF A LIMITED 
TAX GENERAL OBLIGATION BOND IN THE PRINCIPAL 
AMOUNT OF NOT TO EXCEED $2,200,000 TO PROVIDE 
FUNDS TO COMPLETE CAPITAL PROJECTS OF THE CITY; 
AND ACCEPTING THE OFFER OF PEOPLES BANK TO 
PURCHASE THE BOND. 

  
 

APPROVED ON AUGUST 21, 2023 
 
 
 

PREPARED BY: 
 

K&L GATES LLP 
 
 

 

14



506922001.2  

 

   

 

CITY OF LYNDEN, WASHINGTON 
ORDINANCE NO. 23-1672 

 
TABLE OF CONTENTS* 

 
Page 

 

Section 1. Definitions............................................................................................................... 3 

Section 2. Project; Authorization of Bond and Bond Details .................................................. 5 

Section 3. Registration, Exchange and Payments .................................................................... 6 

Section 4. Prepayment ............................................................................................................. 6 

Section 5. Form of Bond .......................................................................................................... 6 

Section 6. Execution of Bond .................................................................................................. 9 

Section 7. Project Fund; Disposition of Bond Proceeds ........................................................ 10 

Section 8. Tax Covenants; Special Designation .................................................................... 10 

Section 9. Bond Fund and Provision for Tax Levy Payments ............................................... 10 

Section 10. Sale of the Bond .................................................................................................... 11 

Section 11. Undertaking to Provide Ongoing Disclosure ........................................................ 11 

Section 12. Ordinance and Laws a Contract with the Purchaser ............................................. 11 

Section 13. Ratification; General Authorization ...................................................................... 11 

Section 14. Severability ........................................................................................................... 11 

Section 15. Effective Date ....................................................................................................... 12 

 

 
Exhibit A – Term Sheet 

 
* This Table of Contents and the cover page are not a part of this ordinance; they are 
included for convenience of the reader only. 
 

15

file:///C:/Users/weedcm/AppData/Roaming/NRPortbl/USW_Active01/WEEDCM/506625738_1.docx%23_Toc119502001
file:///C:/Users/weedcm/AppData/Roaming/NRPortbl/USW_Active01/WEEDCM/506625738_1.docx%23_Toc119502002
file:///C:/Users/weedcm/AppData/Roaming/NRPortbl/USW_Active01/WEEDCM/506625738_1.docx%23_Toc119502003
file:///C:/Users/weedcm/AppData/Roaming/NRPortbl/USW_Active01/WEEDCM/506625738_1.docx%23_Toc119502004
file:///C:/Users/weedcm/AppData/Roaming/NRPortbl/USW_Active01/WEEDCM/506625738_1.docx%23_Toc119502005
file:///C:/Users/weedcm/AppData/Roaming/NRPortbl/USW_Active01/WEEDCM/506625738_1.docx%23_Toc119502006
file:///C:/Users/weedcm/AppData/Roaming/NRPortbl/USW_Active01/WEEDCM/506625738_1.docx%23_Toc119502007
file:///C:/Users/weedcm/AppData/Roaming/NRPortbl/USW_Active01/WEEDCM/506625738_1.docx%23_Toc119502008
file:///C:/Users/weedcm/AppData/Roaming/NRPortbl/USW_Active01/WEEDCM/506625738_1.docx%23_Toc119502009
file:///C:/Users/weedcm/AppData/Roaming/NRPortbl/USW_Active01/WEEDCM/506625738_1.docx%23_Toc119502010
file:///C:/Users/weedcm/AppData/Roaming/NRPortbl/USW_Active01/WEEDCM/506625738_1.docx%23_Toc119502011
file:///C:/Users/weedcm/AppData/Roaming/NRPortbl/USW_Active01/WEEDCM/506625738_1.docx%23_Toc119502012
file:///C:/Users/weedcm/AppData/Roaming/NRPortbl/USW_Active01/WEEDCM/506625738_1.docx%23_Toc119502013
file:///C:/Users/weedcm/AppData/Roaming/NRPortbl/USW_Active01/WEEDCM/506625738_1.docx%23_Toc119502014
file:///C:/Users/weedcm/AppData/Roaming/NRPortbl/USW_Active01/WEEDCM/506625738_1.docx%23_Toc119502015


506922001.2  

 

ORD-23-1672 

 Page 3 of 12 

 

ORDINANCE NO. 23-1672 
 
 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF LYNDEN, 
WASHINGTON, PROVIDING FOR THE ISSUANCE AND 
SALE OF A LIMITED TAX GENERAL OBLIGATION 
BOND IN THE PRINCIPAL AMOUNT OF NOT TO 
EXCEED $2,200,000 TO PROVIDE FUNDS TO 
COMPLETE CAPITAL PROJECTS OF THE CITY; AND 
ACCEPTING THE OFFER OF PEOPLES BANK TO 
PURCHASE THE BOND. 

 
WHEREAS, the City of Lynden, Washington (the “City”) is in need of funds to complete a 
construction project (the “Project”); and 
 
WHEREAS, the City is authorized by Title 35 and ch. 39.46 to issue general obligation 
bonds payable from, inter alia, regular tax levies of the City; and 
 
WHEREAS, the City Council (the “Council”) has determined that all or a portion of the 
costs of the Project should be financed through the issuance of a limited tax general 
obligation bond of the City in the principal amount of not to exceed $2,200,000 (the 
“Bond”); and 

 
WHEREAS, the City has received the offer of the Peoples Bank to purchase the Bond in 
a commitment letter dated July 25, 2023 (the “Term Sheet”) which offer this Council 
wishes to accept and approve;  

 
NOW, THEREFORE, THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF LYNDEN, WASHINGTON, 
DOES ORDAIN, as follows: 
 
Section 1. Definitions.  As used in this ordinance, unless a different meaning clearly 
appears from the context: 
 

Bank means Peoples Bank, Lynden, Washington 
 
Bond means the City of Lynden, Washington Limited Tax General Obligation 

Bond, 2023, to be issued in the aggregate amount of not to exceed $2,200,000 issued 
pursuant to this ordinance. 

 
Bond Counsel means K&L Gates LLP. 
 
Bond Fund means the Limited Tax General Obligation Bond Redemption Fund, 

2023 created pursuant to Section 9 of this ordinance. 
 

 Bond Register means the registration records maintained by the Bond Registrar 
for the purpose of identifying ownership of the Bond. 

16



506922001.2  

 

ORD- 23-1672 

 Page 4 of 12 
   

 

 
 Bond Registrar, initially, means the Finance Director.  At any time following the 
issuance of the Bond, however, the Finance Director may determine to appoint a different 
Bond Registrar, including, but not limited to the fiscal agent of the State of Washington.  
The term Bond Registrar also shall include any successor Bond Registrar appointed by 
the Finance Director as permitted by law. 
 
 City means the City of Lynden, Washington, a municipal corporation of the State 
of Washington. 
 

City Administrator means the duly qualified, appointed and acting City 
Administrator of the City, or any other officer who succeeds to the duties now delegated 
to that office. 

 
 Closing Date means the date of issuance and delivery of the Bond to the Bank. 
 
 Code means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, and shall include 
all applicable regulations and rulings relating thereto. 
 
 Council means the City Council as the general legislative authority of the City, as 
the same shall be duly and regularly constituted from time to time. 
 
 Designated Representative means any of the following:  (a) the Mayor and/or 
(b) the Finance Director or (c) any official or employee of the City designated in writing by 
any of the foregoing. 
 

Final Maturity Date means December 1, 2038. 
 
Finance Director means the duly qualified, appointed and acting Finance Director 

of the City, or any other officer who succeeds to the duties now delegated to that office. 
 
 Interest Rate means 5.18%. 
 

Mayor means the duly qualified, elected and acting Mayor of the City, or any other 
person who succeeds to the duties now delegated to that office. 

 
Project means the remodeling of the fire station. 
 
Project Fund means the fund maintained pursuant to Section 7 of this ordinance. 
 

 Registered Owner means the person named as the registered owner of a Bond 
in the Bond Register. 
 
 Rule means the SEC’s Rule 15c2-12 under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, 
as the same may be amended from time to time. 
 

17



506922001.2  

 

ORD- 23-1672 

 Page 5 of 12 
   

 

 SEC means the United States Securities and Exchange Commission. 
 
 Term Sheet means the Term Sheet from the Bank dated July 25, 2023 and 
attached hereto as Exhibit A. 
 
 Interpretation.  In this ordinance, unless the context otherwise requires: 
 
 (a) The terms “hereby,” “hereof,” “hereto,” “herein,” “hereunder” and any similar 
terms, as used in this ordinance, refer to this ordinance as a whole and not to any 
particular article, section, subdivision or clause hereof, and the term “hereafter” shall 
mean after, and the term “heretofore” shall mean before, the date of this ordinance; 
 
 (b) Words of the masculine gender shall mean and include correlative words of 
the feminine and neuter genders and words importing the singular number shall mean 
and include the plural number and vice versa; 
 
 (c) Words importing persons shall include firms, associations, partnerships 
(including limited partnerships), trusts, corporations and other legal entities, including 
public bodies, as well as natural persons; 
 
 (d) Any headings preceding the text of the several articles and sections of this 
ordinance, and any table of contents or marginal notes appended to copies hereof, shall 
be solely for convenience of reference and shall not constitute a part of this ordinance, 
nor shall they affect its meaning, construction or effect; and 
 
 (e) All references herein to “articles,” “sections” and other subdivisions or 
clauses are to the corresponding articles, sections, subdivisions or clauses hereof. 
 
Section 2. Project; Authorization of Bond and Bond Details.   
 

(a) Project.  The City is remodeling its fire station.  It is anticipated that the entire 
proceeds of the Bond will be used for completing the remodeling project.   Nevertheless, 
in the event that Bond proceeds remain unspent upon completion of the remodeling 
project, the proceeds may be used for other capital purposes approved by the Council 
(collectively, with fire station project, the “Project”).   The proceeds of the Bond shall be 
used to fund or reimburse the City for the costs of the Project and for the costs of selling 
the Bond. 

 
(b) Authorization of Bond and Bond Details.  For the purpose of funding or 

reimbursing the costs of the Project and paying the costs of issuance related thereto, the 
City shall issue its limited tax general obligation bond in the principal amount of not to 
exceed $2,200,000 (the “Bond”).   

 
 The Bond shall be designated as the “City of Lynden, Washington, Limited Tax 
General Obligation Bond, 2023,” shall be dated as of the Closing Date, shall be fully 
registered as to both principal and interest, shall be issued as a single fully registered 

18



506922001.2  

 

ORD- 23-1672 

 Page 6 of 12 
   

 

bond, and shall be numbered in such manner and with any additional designation as the 
Bond Registrar deems necessary for purposes of identification. 
 

The Bond shall bear interest at the per annum Interest Rate, payable on the date(s) 
and maturing in principal amount(s) set forth in the form of the Bond (set forth in Section 5 
of this ordinance.  The Bond shall be payable in annual installments of interest and 
principal, with the first payment due on December 1, 2024 and the final payment due on 
the Maturity Date.   

 
Section 3. Registration, Exchange and Payments.  The City’s Finance Director shall 
act as Bond Registrar.  The duties of the Bond Registrar hereunder shall be limited to 
authenticating the Bond and to remitting money to the Bank on the payment dates as 
provided therein.  Principal of and interest on the Bond shall be payable in lawful money 
of the United States of America.  Installments of principal of and interest on the Bond shall 
be paid by check, wire, or electronic transfer on the date due to the Bank; provided, 
however, upon final payment of all installments of principal and interest thereon, the Bond 
shall be submitted to the Bond Registrar for cancellation and surrender. 
 
 The Bond Registrar is authorized, on behalf of the City, to authenticate and deliver 
the Bond and to carry out all of the Bond Registrar’s powers and duties under this 
ordinance. 
 
 The Bond shall not be transferable, except in whole to a financial institution subject 
to the further limitations set forth in the Term Sheet.   
 
Section 4. Prepayment.  The Bond shall be subject to prepayment, if any, commencing 
after December 1, 2028, as provided in the Term Sheet. 
 
Section 5. Form of Bond.  The Bond shall be in substantially the following form: 
 

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 
 

NO. R-1 [$2,200,000] 

STATE OF WASHINGTON 

CITY OF LYNDEN 

LIMITED TAX GENERAL OBLIGATION BOND, 2023 

 
INTEREST RATE: 5.18% per annum 
 
FINAL MATURITY DATE: December 1, 2038 
 
REGISTERED OWNER: PEOPLES BANK 
 P.O. BOX 233 
 LYNDEN, WA  98264 

19



506922001.2  

 

ORD- 23-1672 

 Page 7 of 12 
   

 

 
TAX IDENTIFICATION #: ________________ 
 
PRINCIPAL AMOUNT: TWO MILLION TWO HUNDRED THOUSAND] AND NO/100 

DOLLARS 
 

THE CITY OF LYNDEN, WASHINGTON, a municipal corporation organized and 
existing under and by virtue of the laws and Constitution of the State of Washington (the 
“City”), hereby acknowledges itself to owe, and for value received promises to pay to the 
Registered Owner identified above, or registered assigns, the Principal Amount specified 
above, together with interest thereon, at the Interest Rate, payable in annual installments 
as set forth below: 

 
AMORTIZATION SCHEDULE 

 

 
 
Interest shall be calculated on the basis of a 365 day year and actual days elapsed. 
 

 Both principal of and interest on this bond are payable in lawful money of the United 
States of America.  Payments made to the Registered Owner shall be applied first to 
accrued interest and then to principal as of the date such payment is actually received by 
the Registered Owner.  Installments of the principal of and interest on this bond shall be 
paid by check or draft of the Finance Director of the City (the “Bond Registrar”) mailed on 

20



506922001.2  

 

ORD- 23-1672 

 Page 8 of 12 
   

 

the date such principal and interest is due or by electronic funds transfer made on the 
date such interest is due to the Registered Owner at the address appearing on the Bond 
Register.  Upon final payment of all installments of principal and interest thereon, this 
bond shall be submitted to the Bond Registrar for cancellation and surrender. 
 
 This bond may be prepaid in accordance with the terms set forth in the Term Sheet 
included as Exhibit A to Ordinance No. 23-1672 of the City Council adopted on August 21, 
2023 (the “Bond Ordinance. 
 
 This bond is issued under and in accordance with the provisions of the Constitution 
and applicable statutes of the State of Washington and the Bond Ordinance.  Capitalized 
terms used in this bond have the meanings given such terms in the Bond Ordinance. 
 
 This bond shall not be valid or become obligatory for any purpose or be entitled to 
any security or benefit under the Bond Ordinance until the Certificate of Authentication 
hereon shall have been manually signed by or on behalf of the Bond Registrar. 
 
 This bond is issued pursuant to the Bond Ordinance for providing funds to 
complete the fire station remodeling project and for other capital projects of the City. 
 

By the Bond Ordinance, the City has irrevocably covenanted that, unless the 
principal of and interest on this bond are paid from other sources, it will make annual 
levies of taxes without limitation as to rate or amount upon all of the property in the City 
subject to taxation for the payment of debt service on the Bond in amounts sufficient to 
pay such principal and interest as provided in the Bond.  The full faith, credit and 
resources of the City are hereby irrevocably pledged for the annual levy and collection of 
such taxes and for the payment of such principal and interest. 

 
This bond has been designated by the City as a “qualified tax-exempt obligation” 

for investment by financial institutions under Section 265(b) of the Code. 
 
 It is hereby certified that all acts, conditions and things required by the Constitution 
and statutes of the State of Washington to exist, to have happened, been done and 
performed precedent to and in the issuance of this bond have happened, been done and 
performed and that the issuance of this bond does not violate any constitutional, statutory 
or other limitation upon the amount of bonded indebtedness that the City may incur. 
 
 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the City of Lynden, Washington, has caused this bond 
to be signed on behalf of the City with the manual or facsimile signature of the Mayor, to 
be attested by the manual or facsimile signature of the Clerk of the City, and a facsimile 
of the seal of the City to be impressed, imprinted or otherwise reproduced hereon, as of 
this _____ day of ________, 2023. 
 

21



506922001.2  

 

ORD- 23-1672 

 Page 9 of 12 
   

 

[SEAL]     CITY OF LYNDEN, WASHINGTON 
 
By  /s/ manual or facsimile signature  

Mayor 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 /s/ manual or facsimile signature  
 City Clerk 
 
 The Certificate of Authentication for the Bond shall be in substantially the following 

form: 

CERTIFICATE OF AUTHENTICATION 
 
 Date of Authentication:  _______________ 
 
 This bond is the bond described in the within-referenced Bond Ordinance as the 
City of Lynden, Washington Limited Tax General Obligation Bond, 2023, dated ________, 
2023. 
 

FINANCE DIRECTOR OF THE CITY 
OF LYNDEN, as Bond Registrar 
 
By 
______________________________ 

Authorized Signer 
 

 
Section 6. Execution of Bond.  The Bond shall be executed on behalf of the City with 
the manual or facsimile signatures of the Mayor and City Clerk, and the seal of the City 
shall be impressed, imprinted or otherwise reproduced thereon.  The Bond shall not be 
valid or obligatory for any purpose or entitled to the benefits of this ordinance unless and 
until a Certificate of Authentication, in the form hereinbefore recited, has been manually 
executed by or on behalf of the Bond Registrar or its duly designated agent. 
 
 In case either of the officers who shall have executed the Bond shall cease to be 
an officer or officers of the City before the Bond so signed shall have been authenticated 
or delivered by the Bond Registrar, or issued by the City, the Bond may nevertheless be 
authenticated, delivered and issued and upon such authentication, delivery and issuance, 
shall be as binding upon the City as though those who signed the same had continued to 
be such officers of the City.  The Bond may be signed and attested on behalf of the City 
by such persons who at the date of the actual execution of the Bond are the proper officers 
of the City, although at the original date of the Bond any such person shall not have been 
such officer of the City. 

22



506922001.2  

 

ORD- 23-1672 

 Page 10 of 12 
   

 

 
Section 7. Project Fund; Disposition of Bond Proceeds.  The proceeds of the Bond 
shall be deposited into a project account and used to pay or reimburse the City for the 
costs of the fire station remodeling project and, if unspent funds remain, other capital 
projects of the City and to pay costs of issuance of the Bond. 
 
 The Finance Director shall invest the net proceeds of the Bond in such obligations 
as may now or hereafter be permitted to cities of the State of Washington by law and that 
will mature prior to the date on which such money shall be needed.  Earnings on such 
investments, except as may be required to pay rebatable arbitrage pursuant to the 
Federal Tax Certificate, if any, may be used for City purposes or transferred to the Bond 
Fund for the uses and purposes therein provided.   
 
Section 8. Tax Covenants; Special Designation. 

 
(a) Arbitrage Covenant.  The City hereby covenants that it will not make any 

use of the proceeds of sale of the Bond or any other funds of the City which may be 
deemed to be proceeds of the Bond pursuant to Section 148 of the Code which will cause 
the Bond to be an “arbitrage bond” within the meaning of said section and said 
regulations.  The City will comply with the requirements of Section 148 of the Code (or 
any successor provision thereof applicable to the Bond) and the applicable regulations 
thereunder throughout the term of the Bond. 

 
 (b) Designation under Section 265(b) of the Code.  The City hereby designates 
the Bond as a “qualified tax-exempt obligation” for purchase by financial institutions 
pursuant to Section 265(b) of the Code.  The City does not anticipate that it will issue 
more than $10,000,000 in qualified tax-exempt obligations during the year 2023 
(excluding obligations permitted by the Code to be excluded for purposes of the City’s 
qualification as a qualified small issuer). 
 
Section 9. Bond Fund and Provision for Tax Levy Payments.  A special fund of the City 
known as the “Limited Tax General Obligation Bond Redemption Fund, 2023” which fund 
or account may be designated or re-designated in accordance with the practices of the 
City from time to time (the “Bond Fund”), is hereby authorized to be established and 
maintained in the office of the Finance Director of the City.  The taxes hereafter levied for 
the purpose of paying principal of and interest on the Bond and other funds to be used to 
pay the Bond shall be deposited in the Bond Fund no later than the date such funds are 
required for the payment of principal of and interest on the Bond.  Money in the Bond 
Fund not needed to pay the interest or principal next coming due may temporarily be 
deposited in such institutions or invested in such obligations as may be lawful for the 
investment of City funds. 

 
 The City hereby irrevocably covenants and agrees for as long as the Bond is 
outstanding and unpaid that each year it will include in its budget and levy an ad valorem 
tax upon all the property within the City subject to taxation in an amount that will be 
sufficient, together with all other revenues and money of the City legally available for such 

23



506922001.2  

 

ORD- 23-1672 

 Page 11 of 12 
   

 

purposes, to pay the principal of and interest on the Bond as the same shall become due.  
All of such taxes so collected and any other money to be used for such purposes shall be 
paid into the Bond Fund. 
 
 The City hereby irrevocably pledges that the annual tax provided for herein to be 
levied for the payment of such principal and interest shall be within and as a part of the 
tax levy permitted to cities without a vote of the people, and that a sufficient portion of 
each annual levy to be levied and collected by the City prior to the full payment of the 
principal of and interest on the Bond will be and is hereby irrevocably set aside, pledged 
and appropriated for the payment of the principal of and interest on the Bond.  The full 
faith, credit and resources of the City are hereby irrevocably pledged for the annual levy 
and collection of said taxes and for the prompt payment of the principal of and interest on 
the Bond as the same shall become due. 
 
Section 10. Sale of the Bond  The City Council hereby ratifies and confirms its 
acceptance of the Bank’s Term Sheet and to issue the Bond on the terms specified therein 
and in this resolution.  The proper officials of the City are hereby authorized and directed 
to do all things necessary for the prompt execution and delivery of the Bond and the items 
required to be delivered to the Bank under the terms of the Term Sheet and for proper 
use and application of the proceeds of sale thereof.  The City shall pay $5,500 (.25% of 
the initial principal amount of the Bond) as a loan origination fee. 

 
Section 11. Undertaking to Provide Information.  The City is exempt from the ongoing 
disclosure requirements of the Rule by reason of the exemption set forth in 
subsection (d)(1) of that Rule with respect to the issuance of securities in authorized 
denominations of $100,000 or more.  The City may undertake to provide certain City 
operational or financial information to the Bank during the term of the Bond. 

 
Section 12. Ordinance and Laws a Contract with the Bank. This ordinance is adopted 
under the authority of and in full compliance with the Constitution and laws of the State of 
Washington.  In consideration of the loan made by the Bank, evidenced by the Bond, the 
provisions of this ordinance and of said laws shall constitute a contract with the Bank, and 
the obligations of the City and its Council under said laws and under this ordinance shall 
be enforceable by any court of competent jurisdiction; and the covenants and agreements 
herein and in the Bond set forth shall be for the equal benefit of the Bank and any 
permitted transferee or assignee.  
 
Section 13. Ratification; General Authorization.  The Mayor and Finance Director and 
other appropriate officers of the City are authorized to take any actions and to execute 
documents as in their judgment may be necessary or desirable in order to carry out the 
terms of, and complete the transactions contemplated by, this ordinance.  All acts taken 
pursuant to the authority of this ordinance but prior to its effective date are hereby ratified. 

 
Section 14. Severability.  If one or more of the covenants or agreements provided in this 
ordinance to be performed on the part of the City shall be declared by any court of 
competent jurisdiction to be contrary to law, then such covenant or covenants, agreement 

24



506922001.2  

 

ORD- 23-1672 

 Page 12 of 12 
   

 

or agreements, shall be null and void and shall be deemed separable from the remaining 
covenants and agreements in this ordinance and shall in no way affect the validity of the 
other provisions of this ordinance or of the Bond. 

 
Section 15. Effective Date.  This ordinance shall be effective five days from its passage 
and publication as required by law. 
 
PASSED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF LYNDEN, WASHINGTON, BY AN 
AFFIRMATIVE VOTE ______ IN FAVOR, ______ AGAINST, AND SIGNED BY THE 
MAYOR THIS ______ DAY OF AUGUST, 2023. 
 

 
CITY OF LYNDEN, WASHINGTON 
 
 
       
MAYOR 

 
ATTEST:       
 
        
CITY CLERK      
 
 
 

APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
        
CITY ATTORNEY      
 
 

25



506922001.2  

 

   

 

SUMMARY 
 

ORDINANCE NO. 23-1672 
 

AN ORDINANCE of the City of Lynden, Washington, 
providing for the issuance and sale of a Limited Tax 
General Obligation bond in the principal amount of not to 
exceed $2,200,000 to provide funds to complete capital 
projects of the City; and accepting the offer of Peoples 
Bank to purchase the bond. 

 
 The full text of this ordinance will be mailed upon request.  Contact __________ 
,__________ at _________.   

26



506922001.2  

 

   

 

CERTIFICATE 
 
 

 I, the undersigned, City Clerk of the City of Lynden, Washington (the “City”) and 
keeper of the records of the City Council (the “Council”), DO HEREBY CERTIFY: 
 
 1. That the attached ordinance is a true and correct copy of Ordinance No. 23-
1672 of the City Council (the “Ordinance”), duly passed at a regular meeting thereof held 
on the 21st day of August, 2023. 
 
 2. That said meeting was duly convened and held in all respects in accordance 
with law, and to the extent required by law, due and proper notice of such meeting was 
given; that a legal quorum was present throughout the meeting and a legally sufficient 
number of members of the City Council voted in the proper manner for the passage of the 
Ordinance; that all other requirements and proceedings incident to the proper passage of 
the Ordinance have been duly fulfilled, carried out and otherwise observed; and that I am 
authorized to execute this certificate. 
 
 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand this 21st day of August, 
2023. 
 
 
 

       
City Clerk 

 
 

27



506922001.2  

 

 

 

EXHIBIT A 
 

28



506922001.2  

 

 

 

29



506922001.2  

 

 

 

 

30


	Top
	1.	Roll Call
	2.	Approval of the July 17, 2023 Minutes
	07_Finance Minutes Jul 17 2023

	3.	Approval of Payroll - July 2023
	07 Jul 2023 Payroll

	4.	Review of the July 2023 Overtime
	07_Jul Overtime Report

	5.	Review of the Sales Tax - YTD 2023
	07_Jul Sales Tax

	6.	Approval of Payroll and Claims
	ES  Approval of Payroll and Claims

	7.	Ordinance No. 23-1672 Fire Station LTGO Bond 2023
	ES Ordinance No. 23-1672 Fire Station LTGO Bond 2023
	ORD-23-1672 Fire Station LTGO Bond 2023

	8.	Review of the Monthly Finance Reports
	9.	None
	Bottom

